ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Charleston County

Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

APR 23 2013

S.C. Supreme Court

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND
TREATMENT OF GILBERT GONZALEZ,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-210606

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the Court of Appeals erred by affirming the trial court's error which allowed the state to argue in his closing that the jury could draw a negative inference from the fact that Gonzalez's expert did not testify, and that the expert's testimony would be adverse to Gonzalez's case?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Gilbert Gonzalez was convicted of three crimes considered to be sexually violent crimes under the Sexually Violent Predator Act. (SVP Act). In June 1985, Gonzalez entered a guilty plea to committing a lewd act on a minor under the age of sixteen. He was sentenced to nine months incarceration. In November 1986, Gonzalez entered a guilty plea to criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree (CSC) and to committing a lewd act upon a minor. He was sentenced to thirty years on the CSC first degree and ten years on the lewd act charge to run consecutively.

In 2006, prior to his max-out date of January 2007, the Multi-Disciplinary Team and the Prosecutor's Review Committee determined there was probable cause that Gonzalez was a sexually violent predator. Probable cause was found and he was ordered to undergo a psychiatric evaluation by Dr. Pamela Crawford. Dr. Crawford determined that Gonzalez had a mental abnormality and that he met the criteria under S.C. Code § 44-48-30.

Gonzalez proceeded to trial on February 9, 10, and 11, 2009 before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson and a jury. The jury found that Gonzalez was a sexually violent predator. Judge Jefferson issued an order committing Gonzalez to the Department of Mental Health for long-term control, care and treatment. Gonzalez' attorney filed a notice of appeal. The Court of Appeals affirmed Gonzalez's commitment on January 4, 2012. In the Matter of the Care and Treatment of Gilbert Gonzalez, 2012-UP-003(Ct. App. filed January 4, 2012). App. 1-2. Gonzalez's appellate attorney filed a petition for rehearing on January 19, 2012. The Court of Appeals issued an order on March 2, 2012 denying the petition for rehearing. App. 15. Gonzalez filed a petition for writ of certiorari which the Supreme Court granted on December 20, 2012 as to Question II.

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's error which allowed the state to argue in his closing that the jury could draw a negative inference from the fact that Gonzalez's expert did not testify and that the expert's testimony would be adverse to Gonzalez's case.

Gilbert Gonzalez was convicted in 1985 for approaching a four year old girl and an eight year old girl in K-Mart. He pled guilty to pulling up the skirt of the four year old and touching her genitals. ROA. 9, ll. 7 – 25; ROA. 10, ll. 1 – 25; ROA. 22, ll.11 – 25; ROA. 23, ll. 1 – 25; ROA. 24, ll. 1 – 20. Although he pled guilty, Gonzalez denied touching the girl's genitals. ROA. 71, ll. 1 – 15.

In 1986, he pled guilty to two crimes. One was committing a lewd act on a minor where he allegedly had a five year old girl get into his truck at a location where he was installing flooring in a house. He pled guilty to putting his hand in her pants and underwear and rubbing her vaginal area. When this incident occurred, he was on bond for the first incident and was scheduled to go to court the next day. ROA. 27, ll. 19 – 25; ROA. 28, ll. 1 – 24. He denied touching the girl's vagina. ROA. 71, ll. 16 – 19.

The second crime he pled guilty to at the same time in 1986 was CSC with a minor first degree where he admitted that he took a six year old girl into the garage of the house where he was working and performed oral sex on her. She left and he called her into the garage a second time where he performed oral sex again and rubbed her vagina with his penis until he ejaculated. His semen was found in the child's vagina and vulva. ROA. 29, ll. 21 – 25; ROA. 30, ll. 1 – 25; ROA. 31, ll. 1 – 23. He admitted to this incident and expressed remorse about it. ROA. 71, ll. 20 – 25; ROA. 72, ll. 1 – 25; ROA. 73, ll. 1 – 9.

Dr. Crawford's testimony in the instant SVP trial was that Gonzalez had a mental abnormality of pedophilia attracted to females. She also diagnosed him as having an antisocial personality disorder. ROA. 46, ll. 10 – 25; ROA. 47, ll. 1 – 25; ROA. 48, ll. 1 – 25. Her opinion was that Gonzalez met the criteria under the statute to be a sexually violent predator. ROA. 39, ll. 7 – 12. She testified that he had difficulty controlling his sexual behavior and would be at high risk of sexually re-offending against young children. ROA. 50, ll. 2 – 19.

Gonzalez testified that he had been incarcerated twenty years and that he had changed. ROA. 66 – 108. He explained that he had been saved while in jail in 1986 and had repented. ROA. 72, ll. 1 – 25. He said that the spirit of sexual perversion had overtaken him when he committed the crimes, but he had assumed responsibility for them. He said he has learned to control his behavior. ROA. 73, ll. 18 – 24.; ROA. 74, ll. 1 – 25; ROA. 75, ll. 1 – 25; ROA. 76, ll. 1 – 9.

He then gave testimony about the activities he participated in while in prison which included sex offender treatment. ROA. 76, ll. 10 – 25; ROA. 77, ll. 1 – 25; ROA. 78, ll. 1 – 21. He presented thirteen exhibits which included thirty-five certificates of programs he had completed while incarcerated. ROA. 57, ll. 11 – 15 Respondent's Exhibit 10. Among these was an Associate of Arts Degree from the Baptist College of Charleston (Charleston Southern University), and a letter of congratulations from the Senior Deputy Warden for being selected inmate of the month by the Christians in Action. He was bilingual and helped other inmates with learning English and Spanish. ROA. 87, ll. 18 – 25.

His girlfriend of eleven years, Pam Donahue, testified on Gonzalez' behalf. ROA. 137, ll. 15 – 25. Her testimony was that they met when her son was incarcerated under the Youthful Offender Act (YOA). She explained that Gonzalez was working at that prison and that Gonzalez helped her son turn his life around. She said she thought her son was into drugs but that he had stayed out of

trouble and was working successfully. ROA. 138, ll. 1 – 25; ROA. 139, ll. 1 – 25; ROA. 140, ll. 1 – 25. She and Gonzalez had continued their relationship since then and had talked of getting married. ROA. 141, ll. 1 – 25.

At the beginning of the trial in a pretrial motion, Gonzalez’s counsel renewed her previous motion for assistance in obtaining a second expert.¹ The attorney told the court that she had made a motion before a circuit court judge in writing but it was denied. Judge Jefferson denied her request but told her the issue was preserved for appeal. ROA. 5, ll. 1 – 25; ROA. 6, ll. 1 – 25; ROA. 7, ll. 1 – 25; ROA. 8, ll. 1 – 18.

Defense counsel then asked the judge regarding jury arguments and questions concerning Gonzalez’s failure to call an expert witness but the judge told her she would take argument on it “contemporaneously.” ROA. 19, ll. 18 – 25. During the trial, counsel brought up the issue of the state being allowed to draw a negative inference from Gonzalez not having an expert to testify. The judge ruled that the state could ask Gonzalez if he had been evaluated but said the “rest of it goes to how he argues it to the jury.” The judge ruled that “you could always draw a negative inference from a witness not being called.” The judge went on to say that the state could “certainly argue lack of a witness.” ROA. 59, ll. 19 – 25; ROA. 60, ll. 1 – 22.

The judge said the expert was retained so it did not come within the discovery rules because the discovery rules apply to an expert who is consulted. Counsel argued that this admission was prejudicial to her client and the prejudice outweighed the value of such procedure. Counsel argued that a party could argue the fact that a witness was not called if the witness is equally available to

¹In the first trial, January 16-17, 2007, which ended in a mistrial, counsel filed a Motion for Assistance in Obtaining Second Expert on Behalf of Respondent filed December 8, 2006 wherein she stated that a second independent psychiatric examination was needed because the first expert, Dr. Tom Martin, would not testify on Respondent’s behalf.

both parties or is unavailable. Counsel noted that Dr. Martin was not available to her client. ROA. 60, ll. 23 – 25; ROA. 61, ll. 1 – 25; ROA. 62, ll. 1 – 25; ROA. 63, ll.1 – 25.

The judge said that the state would be very limited in what they could ask Gonzalez which would be limited to asking if he were evaluated. However, she said the state could argue that since the expert was not at trial, the jury “should assume he did not have something favorable to say.” She said this was a civil case. ROA. 64, ll. 1 – 22.

During the state’s cross examination of Gonzalez, his counsel objected when the state began to question Gonzalez about a second evaluation. The judge did not allow speaking objections but had counsel approach the bench. She then overruled counsel’s objection. The state asked Gonzalez if he been evaluated by Dr. Tom Martin which Gonzalez said yes. ROA. 115, ll. 18 – 25; ROA. 116, ll. 1 – 13.

During his closing argument, the state’s attorney told the jury that it was clear from the evidence that Gonzalez was allowed to get an independent evaluation by a psychiatrist of his choice, Dr. Tom Martin. Defense counsel objected which was overruled after a discussion at the bench. ROA. 185, ll. 1 – 19.

The state’s attorney then argued to the jury:

As I was saying, the respondent, after getting the evaluation done by Dr. Crawford, was entitled to get an independent evaluation and he got one by Dr. Tom Martin. Dr. Martin is not here. I would submit to you that you can draw an inference from his not being here that if he was here his testimony would be adverse to the respondent’s case.

ROA. 185, ll. 20 – 25; ROA. 186, ll. 1.

The Sexually Violent Predator Act involves involuntary civil commitments to the Department of Mental Health. S.C. Code §. 44-48-20 (1998). However, the Act includes

significant components of the criminal law. These include a probable cause determination and hearing. S.C. Code § 44-48-70 (1998). A person subject to the Act is entitled to the assistance of legal counsel at all stages, and the person is entitled to a jury trial. S.C. Code § 44-48-90 (1998). Although this right to counsel is not constitutional, it is statutory. In re McCoy, 360 S.C. 425, 602 S.E.2d 58 (2004). The burden for a finding by the jury that the person is a sexually violent predator is “beyond a reasonable doubt”. S.C. Code § 44-48-100(A) (1998).

The Act involves criminal convictions. A sexually violent predator is defined as a person who has been convicted of a sexually violent offense as listed in the Act and suffers from a mental abnormality or a personality disorder that makes the person likely to engage in acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility for long-term control, care and treatment. S.C. Code § 44-48-30(1) (1998). The result is the taking of personal freedom through the involuntary commitment.

Because of these components of criminal law, the Act is a hybrid of civil and criminal law. The evidence and testimony at a trial under the SVP Act is concerned primarily with criminal acts the defendant or respondent has committed and future criminal acts he may commit. If found to be a sexually violent predator by a jury, the person’s personal freedom is taken, and he is housed in a prison building at the Department of Corrections, maybe for his life time. This is the same result as a criminal conviction.

Because the same burden applies to these SVP trials as the burden in a criminal trial, and because of the other similarities to the criminal law, the same constitutional rights and rules of evidence should apply as well. The state told the jury in his opening statement that the state had the burden of proof which was beyond a reasonable doubt. SUPP. ROA. 1, ll. 2 – 25; SUPP. ROA. 2, ll. 1 – 3; SUPP. ROA. 3, ll. 1 – 23. Although the judge said the state could argue a negative inference

because Dr. Martin was not present since this was a civil trial, she committed reversible error in allowing the state to shift the burden of proof to Gonzalez.

In Douglas v. State, 332 S.C.67, 504 S.E.2d 307 (1998), the Supreme Court wrote that the jury should ordinarily be instructed not to draw inferences from the neglect of a defendant to call witnesses.

Rule 403, SCRE, provides that any relevant evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. The judge's rulings regarding the expert witness were prejudicial. The judge had already denied funding for a second expert because the first expert refused to testify. Then the judge allowed the state to tell the jury they could draw a negative inference because Gonzalez' expert did not testify. This placed Gonzalez in a catch 22 situation where he could not win. This was prejudicial to Gonzalez.

The Court of Appeals held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion because the content of the closing argument should stay within the record and reasonable inferences could be drawn there from. App. 2.