STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal From Charleston County
On Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
The Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2012-210606

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND TREATMENT
OF GILBERT GONZALEZ,

RECEIVED

MAY 23 2013

S.C. Supreme Court

Petitioner,

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE PRESENTED

The circuit court properly allowed the State to argue the jury could draw a negative inference from Petitioner's failure to present testimony from his independent expert.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent concurs with Petitioner's procedural Statement of the Case.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 1985, Appellant Gilbert Gonzalez (“Gonzalez”) (aka Gilbert Zubia), pled guilty to committing a lewd act on a minor arising from an incident involving a four year old girl and an eight year old girl. He approached the girls in a store parking lot and asked to see their underwear. When the girls refused, Gonzalez pulled up the four year old girl’s skirt, put his hand inside her underwear and fondled her vaginal area. (Record on Appeal [R.], p. 233).

In 1986, Gonzalez pled guilty to one count of first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor, and one count of lewd act on a minor, and was sentenced to consecutive incarceration terms of thirty years and ten years, respectively. The criminal sexual conduct charge arose from the sexual assault of a six year old girl. Gonzalez was working at the girl’s home when he lured her into the garage and performed oral sex on her. He also rubbed his penis on her vaginal area until he ejaculated. (R., pp. 232-233).

The lewd act charge arose from the sexual assault of a five year old girl. Gonzalez lured her into a truck and fondled her vaginal area. This offense occurred while Gonzalez was out on bond on the 1985 lewd act charge, and one day before he was scheduled to appear in court for sentencing on that charge. (R., p. 233).

Pursuant to the South Carolina Sexually Violent Predator Act (“SVP Act”), the Multi-Disciplinary Team (“MDT”) reviewed Gonzalez’s case prior to his release from incarceration, found probable cause to believe he met the criteria for civil commitment and referred the case to the Prosecutor’s Review Committee (“PRC”) for further review. The PRC also found probable cause to believe Gonzalez met the criteria for commitment, and

referred the case for civil commitment proceedings. (R., p. 231).

On February 24, 2006, Respondent State of South Carolina (the “State”) commenced a civil commitment proceeding in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas. The circuit court found probable cause to believe Gonzalez is a sexually violent predator, and appointed Pamela Crawford, M.D. (“Dr. Crawford”) to perform a mental evaluation.

Dr. Crawford concluded Gonzalez suffers from the mental abnormality of pedophilia, and met the criteria for civil commitment under the SVP Act. On October 3, 2006, the circuit court granted Gonzalez’s request for an independent evaluation by Thomas Martin, M.D., and ordered compensation up to \$5000 for the evaluation and trial assistance. (R., p. 298).

On or about December 5, 2006, Gonzalez moved for financial assistance to hire a second expert to perform another independent evaluation and participate at trial. Gonzalez indicated Dr. Martin performed the previously ordered evaluation on October 19, 2006, and then simply stated “Dr. Martin informed [Gonzalez’s] counsel that he will not be able to testify on [Gonzalez’s] behalf.” (R., pp. 300-301). The State objected to the request for a second evaluation, arguing it was an attempt to “doctor shop” because Dr. Martin’s evaluation was not favorable to Gonzalez. (R., pp. 303-306) After a hearing, the circuit court denied the motion “with leave to renew the request if there is some compelling reason why the expert originally approved by the court will not participate in the respondent’s trial.” (R., p. 308).

Gonzalez moved for reconsideration of the circuit court’s order, arguing his counsel needed access to expert advice and consultation in preparing for trial and challenging Dr.

Crawford's opinion. (R., pp. 309-310). The State again opposed the requested relief, noting Gonzalez's counsel had indicated Dr. Martin might be available for trial if the State agreed to limit his cross-examination to only Dr. Crawford's methodology and testing, and therefore, Gonzalez failed to present any "compelling reason" Dr. Martin was unavailable for trial. (R., pp. 314-318), The circuit court denied the motion, finding Gonzalez's motion did not assert anything more than what was argued on the original motion. (R., pp. 312-313).¹

The matter was called for a jury trial on February 9, 2009, before the Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge.² Prior to trial, the circuit court denied Gonzalez' renewed motion for assistance in obtaining a second expert, finding the SVP Act plainly provided for funding one expert, and the court did not have authority to overrule the previous court order on the issue. (R. pp. 7-8).

Dr. Crawford testified regarding the information she considered during the course of evaluating Gonzalez, including two interviews with Gonzalez and the facts of his offenses. She stated Gonzalez only admitted committing one of his three known offenses, and he indicated he believed it happened because his girlfriend put "a spell" on him. (R., pp. 16-32).

Dr. Crawford concluded Gonzalez has the mental abnormality of pedophilia, sexually attracted to females, nonexclusive, as well as antisocial personality disorder. She testified Gonzalez's pedophilia and antisocial personality disorder made him a high risk to

¹The State submitted its Reply before receiving the Order denying the motion.

²Two earlier trials ended in mistrials when the juries were unable to reach unanimous verdicts.

sexually re-offend against very young children, and he needed to be confined for long term control, care and treatment. She stated outpatient treatment would not be appropriate because Gonzalez did not believe he needed any treatment. (R., pp. 39-56).

At the conclusion of the State's case, Gonzalez's counsel inquired about the State's intention to argue a negative inference from his failure to call an expert witness. When the State indicated it did intend to make such an inference, the circuit court ruled the State could ask Gonzalez if he had been evaluated by another expert, and then argue to the jury regarding a negative inference from Gonzalez's failure to call the expert as a witness at trial. (R., pp. 59-64).

Gonzalez testified he had a religious experience while incarcerated, and he repented of his prior conduct. He stated his religious experience made him sorry for his conduct against children, and he would not harm another child. He presented numerous certificates he earned while incarcerated, and testified he took courses and obtained a college degree. (R., pp. 70-107).

On cross-examination, Gonzalez stated he did not commit two of the crimes to which he pled guilty, and reiterated his belief whatever crimes he committed were due to a "spirit overtaking" him. Over counsel's objection, he also testified Dr. Martin evaluated him in October 2006, after Dr. Crawford issued her report recommending civil commitment. (R., pp. 109-132).

Gonzalez's girlfriend testified she met him while he was incarcerated, and they got involved after Gonzalez helped her son. She stated he is a very trustworthy person, and within the context of her visiting him in prison, she believed he was a very truthful person.

(R., pp. 138-141, 144, 149). On cross-examination, she admitted she had never observed Gonzalez in the community, but only in prison visiting rooms guarded by correctional officers. (R., pp. 153-156).

During closing arguments, over Gonzalez's objection, the State referenced Gonzalez's testimony that Dr. Martin independently evaluated him, and then argued the jury could infer Dr. Martin's testimony would be adverse to Gonzalez because Dr. Martin did not testify at the trial. (R., pp. 185-186). Gonzalez's counsel then argued the State had the burden of proof, and could have called Dr. Martin to testify if his testimony would have benefitted the State's case. (R., pp. 190-204).

The circuit court charged the jury to consider only competent evidence presented, and gave extensive charges regarding the jury's determination of witness credibility and the State's burden of proof. (R., pp. 209-220). Gonzalez did not object to the court's charges as given, but simply renewed his previous objections. (R., p.220).

The jury found Gonzalez is a sexually violent predator as defined by the SVP Act. (R., p. 221). The circuit court denied Gonzalez's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, and ordered Gonzalez be committed to the Department of Mental Health for long term control, care and treatment. (R., pp. 222-230, 319). This appeal followed.

By opinion filed January 4, 2012, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed the circuit court rulings, and denied the Petition for Rehearing on March 2, 2012. (Appendix, pp. 1-2, 15). By Order dated December 20, 2012, this Court granted the Gonzalez's Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals only as to the closing argument negative inference issue.

ARGUMENT

The circuit court properly allowed the State to argue the jury could draw a negative inference from Appellant's failure to present testimony from his independent expert.

Gonzalez contends the circuit court erred in allowing the State to ask him about Dr. Martin's independent evaluation, and then argue the jury could draw a negative inference from his failure to present Dr. Martin's testimony at trial. On appeal, he submits this impermissibly shifted the burden of proof to him. As a threshold matter, the issue raised on appeal is not preserved for appellate review. Further, Gonzalez again attempts to impose criminal law principles on a civil commitment proceeding under the SVP Act.

In the circuit court, Gonzalez asserted the State asking him about Dr. Martin, and commenting on his failure to call Dr. Martin as a witness, violated the discovery rules regarding "consulting" experts, and the prejudice to Gonzalez outweighed the probative value. The circuit court found the discovery rules did not apply because Dr. Martin was a "retained" expert under the express provisions of the SVP Act.³ The court then ruled the case was no different from any other civil case in which a party can argue a negative inference from another party's failure to call a witness, and therefore, the State could comment in closing arguments on Gonzalez's failure to present Dr. Martin at trial. (R., pp. 59-65).

³Rule 26(b)(4)(B), SCRCP, provides "[a] party may discover facts known or opinions held by an expert who has been retained or specially employed by another party in anticipation of litigation or preparation for trial and who is not expected to be called as a witness at trial." A party is not required to disclose or produce an expert only "consulted informally, or consulted and not retained or specially employed." *Id.* (emphasis added). The SVP Act provides that a person subject to a court ordered evaluation "may retain a qualified expert of his own choosing" to conduct an examination. S.C. Code §44-48-90 (Supp. 2008) (emphasis added).

After the jury verdict, Gonzalez moved for a new trial on two specific grounds: 1) the court's failure to give a good character jury charge; and 2) allowing the State to tell the jury they could draw a negative inference from his failure to present Dr. Martin as a witness. (R., p. 25). The court denied the motion, finding the evidence elicited regarding Dr. Martin was more probative than prejudicial, and both parties argued in closing about the absence of witnesses and evidence. (R., pp. 228-230).

Gonzalez **never** argued to the circuit court that allowing the evidence and argument improperly shifted the State's burden of proof to him. Therefore, the issue is not preserved for review by the appellate courts. *See State v. Tucker*, 319 S.C. 425, 462 S.E.2d 263 (1995) (a party may not argue one ground below and then argue different ground on appeal); *State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 377 S.E.2d 581 (1989) (issue not preserved for appeal where one ground is raised below and another ground is raised on appeal); *see also State v. Perez*, 334 S.C. 563, 514 S.E.2d 754 (1999) (issue may not be raised for first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled on by trial judge to be preserved for appellate review).

Even if the issue is preserved for review, however, the State submits Gonzalez's assertion is meritless. Gonzalez makes nothing more than a conclusory contention that the same constitutional rights and rules of evidence applicable to criminal cases should also apply in SVP cases, and then states that allowing the State to argue the negative inference from the absence of Dr. Martin's testimony shifted the burden of proof from the State to him.⁴ (Brief of Appellant, pp. 9-10, 11).

⁴It is undisputed the circuit court accurately and adequately charged the jury regarding the State's burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. (R., pp. 214-216).

The SVP Act does bestow on individuals subject to it some of the rights normally associated with criminal prosecutions, but it is not intended to be punitive in nature and merely sets forth a civil process for the commitment and treatment of sexually violent predators. See In Re: Care and Treatment of Matthews, 345 S.C. 638, 550 S.E.2d 311, 316 (2001) (the SVP Act is a civil, non-punitive scheme); In Re: Care and Treatment of Canupp 380 S.C. 611, 671 S.E.2d 614, 617 (Ct. App. 2008); In Re: Care and Treatment of Brown, 372 S.C. 611, 643 S.E.2d 118, 121 (Ct. App. 2007). The SVP Act's inclusion of certain specific rights normally associated with criminal cases does not make proceedings thereunder criminal in nature, or entitle the person to other rights not delineated therein.⁵ See Canupp, 671 S.E.2d at 617 (unlike criminal cases, there is no constitutional right to decline to testify in civil commitment proceedings); see also In Re: Care and Treatment of Manigo, 398 S.C. 149, 728 S.E.2d 32, 36 (2012) (same) (citing Canupp). Notwithstanding Gonzalez's effort to impose inapplicable criminal law principles on SVP Act proceedings, the State was simply allowed to solicit evidence and argue inferences like any party in a civil case.

If a party fails to present an available witness on a material issue, and the witness is within his control, the jury may infer the witness' testimony would not have been favorable to the party. Duckworth v. First National Bank, 254 S.C. 563, 176 S.E.2d 297, 304 (1970).

⁵As a matter of statutory construction, the fact the Legislature only included specific aspects of criminal law in the SVP Act clearly indicates it did **not** intend for non-specified criminal law components to apply in SVP proceedings. See Riverwoods, LLC v. County of Charleston, 349 S.C. 378, 563 S.E.2d 651, 655 (2002) ("The canon of construction '*expressio unius est exclusio alterius*' or '*inclusio unius est exclusio alterius*' holds that 'to express or include one thing implies the exclusion of another, or of the alternative.'") (quoting Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 533 S.E.2d 578, 582 [2000]).

In this context, “control” means the witness is in such relationship to the party it is likely his presence could be procured. *Id.* It is always proper for an attorney in argument to the jury to point out the failure of a party to call a witness. Holmes v. Black River Elec. Co-op., Inc., 274 S.C. 252, 262 S.E.2d 875, 879 (1980); State v. Hammond, 270 S.C. 347, 242 S.E.2d 411, 416 (1978) (failure to call a witness is proper argument); *see also* Douglas v. State, 332 S.C. 67, 504 S.E.2d 207, 309 (1998) (When defendant presents evidence at trial, and there are available witnesses who are or should be cognizant of material facts, it is not improper for the prosecutor to comment on defendant’s failure to produce them.).

In Hoverter v. Dir., Patuxent Institution, 231 Md. 608, 188 A.2d 696 (1963), an individual appealed an order civilly committing him, contending the State was improperly allowed to comment to the jury about his failure to produce a psychiatrist who examined him at State expense. The Court of Appeals found no error, noting the individual requested the examination and voluntarily took the stand at trial. Citing the “well settled rule” that failure of a party to produce an available witness on a material issue gives rise to an inference the testimony would be unfavorable, the Court held the issue was a legitimate subject for comment in argument to the jury. *Id.* at 696-697; *see also* Gray v. Dir., Patuxent Institution, 245 Md. 80, 224 A.2d 879 (1966) (same) (citing Hoverter).

By court order, the circuit court authorized Gonzalez to **retain** Dr. Martin to perform an independent mental evaluation, and Dr. Martin in fact performed the evaluation pursuant to the court order. Contrary to Gonzalez’s assertion Dr. Martin was unavailable as a witness for him, as evidenced by documents filed in the circuit court when he sought a second expert, Dr. Martin **was available** to testify and assist counsel in trial preparation. He simply would

not testify favorably for Gonzalez, and the State refused to voluntarily limit Dr. Martin's cross-examination if Gonzalez called him as a witness. (R., pp. 300, 303, 309, 314). As the circuit court noted, a witness is not unavailable simply because his testimony would not be beneficial to the party.⁶ (R., p. 62).

Dr. Crawford's testimony established all material issues necessary to the State's case-in-chief. Thus, the State could not show a "substantial need" to call Dr. Martin as a witness, or that an inability to compel his testimony would present "undue hardship" to the State. *See State v. Jones*, 383 S.C. 535, 681 S.E.2d 580, 586 (2009) (State must show "substantial need" and "undue hardship" in order to compel a defendant's non-testifying expert as a witness). Further, assuming Dr. Martin essentially agreed with Dr. Crawford's conclusions, his testimony would be cumulative, and the State would no doubt be accused of unfairness and attempting to "gild the lily" if it called Dr. Martin as a witness for the State. *McGee v. Bruce Hospital System*, 321 S.C. 340, 468 S.E.2d 633, 638 (1996) (fairness is an important consideration in determining whether a party can compel the testimony of an expert employed by the opposing party, and the traditional limitations excluding prejudicial, misleading or cumulative evidence apply).

Given the fact Dr. Martin was retained as an expert for Gonzalez and paid for his services pursuant to a court order, he was within Gonzalez's control for purposes of testifying

⁶Gonzalez's contention Dr. Martin "refused to testify" is contradicted by the record. Rather, the record indicates Gonzalez sought to "expert shop" after Dr. Martin advised counsel his opinion was not favorable to Gonzalez. Gonzalez's reason for not calling Dr. Martin is starkly revealed by his attempt to limit the State's cross-examination of Dr. Martin. In addition, as the circuit court pointed out at trial, Gonzalez could have compelled Dr. Martin's testimony by subpoena. The simple fact is Dr. Martin's testimony would not be favorable to Gonzalez.

at trial. Gonzalez did not even attempt to present Dr. Martin as a witness, and the State was entitled to argue the jury could infer from his absence that Dr. Martin's testimony would be adverse to Gonzalez. Therefore, the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the circuit court ruling on this issue.

CONCLUSION